
Walled Lake City Council Chambers | 1499 E. West Maple Rd. | Walled Lake | Phone (248) 624-4847 

CITY OF WALLED LAKE 

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

(Electronic Meeting Platform) 

Wednesday, August 19, 2020 | 7:30 P.M. 

NOTICE OF ELECTRONIC PUBLIC MEETING: Pursuant to Executive Order No. 2020-154 signed by 

Governor Whitmer July 17, 2020 allows participation of the City Council meeting to be made available 

via electronic communications out of precaution and to limit the potential exposure of the public and staff 

to the COVID-19 virus.  

Electronic Meeting Platform  

The City will be utilizing the audio-conferencing tool ZOOM. Members of the Walled Lake public body will be 

able to hear and speak to each other for the entire meeting. Except for closed session portions of the meeting, 

members of the audience/public will be able to hear members of the Walled Lake public body during the entire 

meeting but will only be able to speak during Audience Participation or Public Hearing.  

To connect to the meeting through ZOOM using a laptop PC or Smart Phone, a member of the public may need 

to do the following: 

• Install Zoom App on mobile device.

• Or download Zoom Client at https://zoom.us/download and install on a PC or Mac

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86847044538 

Passcode: 877760 

ROLL CALL & DETERMINATION OF 

A QUORUM 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 1. Special Council Meeting Public Hearing July 22, 2020 Pg. 3 

UNFINISHED  BUSINESS 1. City Council Case:   2020-03 

Applicant:   Pincanna, LLC 

Location:   1877 E. West Maple 

Request:   Appeal of Administrative Denial of Marijuana 

 Facility Site Plan Application;  

 Non-use Variance; Request for Interpretation 

This matter relates to property located at 1877 E. West Maple Rd. zoned C-2. 

Applicant requests City Council to reverse or modify the March 11, 2020 

administrative denial of applicant’s Marijuana Facility site plan application or 

alternatively grant the below requested variances to operate a medical 

marihuana provisioning center at 1877 E. West Maple Rd.  The applicant 

alternatively seeks a variance from C-334-17, Section 21.50 (b) and (e) 7 

which limit the number of  provisioning centers to not more than two(2) in a 

C-2 zoning district and further require a 500 foot set back from another

provisioning center; to allow a third provisioning center in a C-2 zoning

district to operate within five hundred (500) feet of another provisioning

center.

Pg. 8 

AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION Audience members will be able to speak via electronic means as instructed 

below. 

ADJOURNMENT 

https://zoom.us/download
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86847044538


Page 2 of 2 

Or iPhone one-tap : 

    US: +13017158592,,86847044538#,,,,,,0#,,877760#  or +13126266799,,86847044538#,,,,,,0#,,877760# 

Or Telephone: 

    Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 

        US: +1 301 715 8592  or +1 312 626 6799  or +1 646 558 8656  or +1 253 215 8782  or +1 346 248 7799  

or +1 669 900 9128  

Webinar ID: 868 4704 4538 

Passcode: 877760 

    International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kdhv2AIl4Z 

Members of the public participating in during the Audience Participation period via ZOOM will wait in a 

virtual queue until called upon during the audience participation period. Because of limitations on un-muting 

and re-muting members of the public, audience participation will be at the end of the meeting (unless there is a 

public hearing item, in which case the following procedures will apply to that portion of the meeting as well). 

When audience participation is permitted, members of the public will be called one at a time, as would happen 

during an in-person meeting. The meeting moderator will determine the order of public speakers. If you want to 

speak, you must use the “Raise Hand” feature for the Mayor to know you need to be unmuted. When you are 

unmuted, you will have three (3) minutes to share your comments to the public body. At the conclusion of your 

comments or your three (3) minutes, you will be re-muted and then removed from the queue.  

Participants may also choose to submit comments that can be read into the record. Comments can be submitted 

via an email to clerk@walledlake.com.  Comments shall be done prior to 12:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

Procedures by which persons may contact members of the public body prior to a meeting. 

The City of Walled Lake government e-mail addresses of the members of all public bodies utilizing this means 

of meeting are available on the City’s website at:  

https://walledlake.us/index.php/contact-us 

Procedures for participation by persons with disabilities. 

The City will be following its normal procedures for accommodation of persons with disabilities. Those 

individuals needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk 

(248) 624- 4847 in advance of the meeting. An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations.

Individuals with Hearing or Speech-Impairments 

Users that are hearing persons and deaf, hard of hearing, or speech-impaired persons can communicate by 

telephone by dialing 7-1-1. 

• Individuals who call will be paired with a Communications Assistant

• Make sure to give the Communications Assistant the proper teleconference phone number and

meeting ID with password.

For more information please visit: 

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93308_93325_93425_94040_94041---,00.html 

mailto:clerk@walledlake.com
https://walledlake.us/index.php/contact-us
https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93308_93325_93425_94040_94041---,00.html


CITY OF WALLED LAKE 
SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

PUBLIC HEARING  
(ELECTRONIC MEETING PLATFORM) 

WEDNESDAY , JULY 22, 2020 
7:30 P.M. 

The Meeting was called to order at 7:30 p.m. by Mayor Ackley. 

ROLL CALL: Mayor Ackley, Mayor Pro Tem Ambrose, Council Member 
Costanzo, Council Member Lublin, Council Member Owsinek, 
Council Member Woods  

There being a quorum present, the meeting was declared in session. 

OTHERS PRESENT: City Manager Whitt, Confidential Assistant Jaquays, Police Chief 
Shakinas, Police Captain Kolke, Fire Chief Coomer, Finance 
Director Barlass, City Attorney Vanerian, Deputy City Clerk 
Gross, and City Clerk Stuart 

CM 7-17-20 MOTION TO EXCUSE COUNCIL MEMBER LOCH FROM 
TONIGHT’S MEETING 

Motion by Ambrose, seconded by Owsinek, UNANIMOUSLY CARRIED: To excuse 
Council Member Loch from tonight’s meeting.  

REQUEST FOR AGENDA CHANGES: None 

City Attorney Vanerian explained his request to move new business item #2 to #1. Attorney 
Vanerian said this applicant, Iron Labs, is requesting a variance from a 500 foot setback from a 
provisioning center and at last evenings city council meeting, July 21, 2020, the council adopted 
an amendment to this specific ordinance where by the 500 foot setback would no longer be 
required for a safety compliance facility. City Attorney Vanerian explained technically the 
ordinance does not go into effect until 21 days after it is published however in approximately 
three weeks, Iron Labs would no longer need the variance.  He explained even if City Council 
denied the variance request, the 500-foot setback for safety compliance would be void. City 
Attorney Vanerian recommended council entertain a motion to amend the agenda to move Iron 
Labs ahead of Pincanna, LLC. 

CM 7-18-20 MOTION TO AMEND AGENDA TO PLACE NEW BUSINESS #2 
BEFORE NEW BUSINESS #1 

Motion by Owsinek, seconded by Lublin, UNANIMOUSLY CARRIED: To amend 
agenda to place New Business #2 before New Business #1.   

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 3 of 81



Roll Call Vote 

Ayes (6) Costanzo, Lublin, Owsinek, Woods, Ambrose, Ackley 
Nays (0) 
Absent (1) Loch  
Abstention (0) 

NEW BUSINESS: 

2. City Council Case:  2020-04
Applicant: Iron Laboratories 
Location:  1825 E. West Maple 
Request:  Non-use Variance 

Open Public Hearing 7:36 p.m. 

Clerk Stuart read into the record City Council Case 2020-04 and their appeal request. 

This matter relates to property located at 1825 E. West Maple zoned C-2. The applicant seeks an 
appeal of the administrative denial of applicant’s proposed site plan for a Marijuana Safety 
Compliance Facility at the above location. Applicant further requests a variance from the 500 ft. 
setback requirement in Sec. 21-50(e)(7) of the zoning ordinance to allow a Marijuana Safety 
Compliance Facility within 500 ft. of a Marijuana Provisioning Center.  

Attorney Seth Tompkins for Iron Labs thanked council for the opportunity to appeal. Attorney 
Tompkins explained Iron Labs was prohibited from opening due to the 500-foot setback 
requirement when Apex was approved.  Attorney Tompkins said Iron Labs has been operating in 
Walled Lake with a license from the state. Attorney Tompkins opined the city would not be 
burdened by granting this variance however there is a deadline for their state renewal Attestation 
forms.  Attorney Tompkins said this is of the utmost importance to his client, so they do not have 
to shut down their operations.  Attorney Tompkins said this client is also seeking an application 
so the lab can test in the adult use market. Attorney Tompkins explained his client’s operation is 
no hinderance on the city. 

AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION    None 

Close Public Hearing 7:39 p.m. 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 4 of 81



CM 7-19-20 MOTION TO GRANT VARIANCE FOR CITY COUNCIL CASE 
2020-04 BASED ON: 

1.) STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH THE ORDINANCE REQUIREMENT WILL 
UNREASONABLY PREVENT THE OWNER FROM USING THE PROPERTY 
FOR A PERMITTED PURPOSE OR WILL BE UNNECESSARILY 
BURDENSOME. 
2.) THE REQUESTED VARIANCE WILL DO SUBSTANTIAL JUSTICE TO 
THE APPLICANT AND OTHER PROPERTY OWNERS. 
3.) A LESSER VARIANCE WILL DO SUBSTANTIAL RELIEF TO THE 
APPLICANT AND/OR BE CONSISTENT WITH JUSTICE TO OTHER 
PROPERTY OWNERS. 
4.) THE NEED FOR THE VARIANCE IS DUE TO UNIQUE CIRCUMSTANCES 
PECULIAR  TO THE PROPERTY AND NOT GENERALLY APPLICABLE IN 
THE AREA OR TO OTHER PROPERTIES IN THE SAME ZONING 
DISTRICT. 
5.) THE PROBLEM AND RESULTING NEED FOR THE VARIANCE HAS NOT 
BEEN SELF-CREATED BY THE APPLICANT AND/OR APPLICANT’S 
PREDECESSORS. 

Motion by Owsinek, seconded by Costanzo: UNANIMOUSLY CARRIED: To approve 
non-use variance request for City Council Case 2020-04. 

Roll Call Vote 

Ayes (6) Lublin, Owsinek, Woods, Ambrose, Costanzo, Ackley 
Nays (0) 
Absent (1) Loch 
Abstention (0) 

1. City Council  Case:   2020-03
Applicant:  Pincanna, LLC 
Location:   1877 E. West Maple 
Request:   Appeal of Administrative Denial of Marijuana 

 Facility Site Plan Application; Non-use Variance; 
 Request for Interpretation  

Open Public Hearing 7:45 p.m. 

This matter relates to property located at 1877 E. West Maple Rd. zoned C-2. Applicant requests 
City Council to reverse or modify the March 11, 2020 administrative denial of applicant’s 
Marijuana Facility site plan application or alternatively grant the below requested variances to 
operate a medical marihuana provisioning center at 1877 E. West Maple Rd.  The applicant 
alternatively seeks a variance from C-334-17, Section 21.50 (b) and (e) 7 which limits the 
number of  provisioning centers to not more than two(2) in a C-2 zoning district and further 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 5 of 81



require a 500 foot set back from another provisioning center; to allow a third provisioning center 
in a C-2 zoning district to operate within five hundred (500) feet of another provisioning center. 

Pincanna, LLC attorney Mark Roberts said his client’s appeal is based on the city not following 
its procedures as set forth in the process that was established by resolution adopted March of 
2015. Attorney Roberts said the procedure set forth indicated that applications were to be 
received starting April 2 of 2018.  He explained his client, Pincanna, LLC submitted their 
application the very next day on April 3, 2018 after the submission there was to be an initial 
review conducted by the City Clerk and Pincanna, LLC was to be advised of any deficiencies in 
their submission and they herd nothing. He said no formal comments came from the city 
advising his client to supplement anything. He said he appreciates City Attorney Vanerian 
sharing his memo and in his memo it points out several site plan deficiencies. Attorney Roberts 
opined these items were precisely the type of issues that should have been brought to Pincanna’s 
attention.  He said if provided, his client would have been given the opportunity to withdraw 
their application and been given a refund or provide supplements.  He said his client was not 
given this opportunity.  Attorney Roberts said the city established procedures and it appears for 
whatever reason did not follow the process.  Attorney Roberts explained Pincanna, LLC entered 
into a lease agreement with the landowner and they have been paying rent to the landowner with 
an option to purchase since April of 2018.  He said his client has incurred substantial costs for 
their application.  Attorney Roberts said the city acted on May 1, 2018 and it is his position that 
the deficiencies could have been rapidly supplemented or corrected.  Attorney Roberts said the 
Apex application which was granted approval according to the March 16th document of this year 
was not even submitted to the city yet.  Attorney Roberts said his client was the only 
provisioning center in this area at the time so the 500-foot setback or separation requirement 
would not have been applicable.  

Attorney Roberts said his client feels there was improper application of city procedures.  He said 
it is his understanding that back in 2018 applicants needed some kind of city approval in order to 
even apply to the state.  He said by the city not providing his client an opportunity to supplement 
their application they were not able to apply to the state. Attorney Roberts said his client and 
their parent company were granted state approval in October of 2018. Attorney Roberts said it 
was not until April of 2019 a year after Pincanna’s submittal, did Apex submit for site plan 
approval. He said there was also an amended site plan as well. He said, yet his client, Pincanna 
was never notified of anything. Attorney Roberts said there is an April 1st review letter for Apex 
that recommended the Planning Commission defer action on their submittal.  He said the 
McKenna review letter is dated three days before the Apex site plan was received by the clerk. 
He said the reason he is pointing this out is that because one of the issues brought out in the 
memo is that there is no time frame for the review period.  Attorney Roberts said all applications 
should be reviewed equally.  He said Apex was advised of deficiencies and given opportunity to 
correct them and that opportunity was denied to his client. Attorney Roberts said the Planning 
Commission gave conditional approval to Apex May of 2018, a second approval was given July 
9, 2019 which is a full year after his client Pincanna, LLC submitted their application. Attorney 
Roberts said had his client’s application been promptly reviewed as Apex was, they would have 
been given the opportunity to supplement.  

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 6 of 81



Attorney Roberts explained that the Pincanna proposal was an attractive development in the 
gateway area of the city. He opined it was a substantial improvement that included new 
construction and new water taps. Attorney Roberts said bottom line is when his client Pincanna, 
LLC submitted a plan in 2018 there was no feedback and out of frustration tried to submit a 
supplemental plan that was rejected from the clerk’s office. Attorney Roberts said Apex came 
before council twice seeking extensions, once in October of 2019 and then again February 2020.  
He said his client does not feel they were treated according to the city’s established procedures 
plus council granted extra extensions to another facility that submitted a year after Pincanna, 
LLC. 

Attorney Roberts said his client heard from the city twice after their submittal with a denial letter 
that specified a number of things, including a separation requirement when the city procedures 
say his clients application was to be evaluated first as being one of the first applications in. 
Attorney Roberts said his client is frustrated as they were never advised of any of the 
deficiencies in their submission until July 7, 2020 that was the first list of deficiencies provided 
which should have occurred May of 2018.  

Attorney Roberts said it would be appropriate for the City Council to re-evaluate the Pincanna, 
LLC proposal, provide opportunity to satisfy any deficiencies and they should have been 
afforded and considered as if Apex was not in the process of being built. 

Attorney Roberts said he wanted to correct one item that when Pincanna, LLC submitted their 
application, Apex was not under construction at that point. He also said the city attorney memo 
pointed out Pincanna’s insurance was expired and explained his client submitted their application 
over two years ago.  

Attorney Roberts said for the reasons he explained, he thinks on due process philosophy that if 
his client was denied due process he said his client should have an opportunity to correct by 
supplement and be considered for approval despite the location of Apex.  

Attorney Roberts said as an alternative relief, his client is asking for a variance on the C-2 
limitations on the number of provisioning centers and on the separation requirements.  

Attorney Roberts said he believes for these reasons strict compliance with separation would do 
substantial harm to his client and prevent them from using their facility. He said it would appear 
also that the city did not follow either purposely or erroneously their own procedures as written 
in 2018. 

CM  7-20-20 MOTION TO RECEIVE AND FILE THE ADMINISTRATIVE 
RECORD OF PINCANNA, LLC APPLICATION INTO THE  
RECORD OF THIS PROCEEDING 

Motion by Ambrose, seconded by Lublin, UNANIMOUSLY CARRIED: To receive and 
file the administrative record of Pincanna, LLC application into the record of this 
proceeding.   

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 7 of 81



Roll Call Vote 

Ayes (6) Lublin, Owsinek, Woods, Ambrose, Costanzo, Ackley 
Nays (0) 
Absent (1) Loch  
Abstention (0) 

Mayor Pro Tem Ambrose said he finds Attorney Roberts claims very interesting and concerning.  
He said he wanted to have the city attorney review the documents and advise council on where 
they stand with applications and procedures.  

Council Member Costanzo said he agrees with Mayor Pro Tem Ambrose. 

Mayor Ackley said City Attorney Vanerian’ s memo provided a lot of information. 

City Attorney Vanerian said one option for council is to postpone any action on the appeal this 
evening and refer to him for review and recommendation.  City Attorney Vanerian said Attorney 
Roberts has raised some interpretative issues as the city’s review procedures, what that consist of 
and what types of deficiencies that we’re supposed to advise the applicant of during the initial 
cursory review during the preliminary stage.  He said it would be appropriate for council to be 
provided recommendations as to the interpretation of that requirement and what was required of 
the city at the preliminary review step.  

City Attorney Vanerian explained issues were raised as it relates to the city’s priority system that 
was adopted.  He said his memo explains in detail this process. 

City Attorney Vanerian said the applications for Apex and Attitude Wellness were done in 
accordance with the city’s ordinances where an applicant is proposing a new construction in any 
zoning district or if it pertains to a facility in the industrial zoning district. He explained these 
applications are reviewed by the Planning Commission first whereas other types of facility are 
reviewed administratively.  Attorney Vanerian explained Pincanna, LLC was proposing use of an 
existing building in a C-2 zoned district and therefore it was reviewed administratively rather 
than by the Planning Commission. He said there are different types of review procedures 
employed between Apex and Pincanna, LLC.  

City Attorney Vanerian said it would be appropriate for council to entertain a motion to refer 
case to city attorney for legal review and recommendation and postpone taking action pending 
receipt of his review. 

Pincanna, LLC attorney Mr. Roberts said he wanted to clarify for council that his client had 
always proposed a new construction on the site with new water and sewer taps. He said his client 
met both the priority one and three of the city’s priority review schedule.  

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 8 of 81



Council discussed dates and asked City Attorney Vanerian when he would be able to provide 
legal review report to back to council. City Attorney Vanerian said after the next regular council 
meeting of August 18th.  

CM 7-21-20 MOTION TO SCHEDULE SPECIAL MEETING FOR AUGUST 19, 
2020 AT 7:30 P.M. 

Motion by Costanzo, seconded by Owsinek: UNANIMOUSLY CARRIED: To schedule 
special meeting for August 19, 2020 at 7:30 p.m. 

Roll Call Vote 

Ayes (6) Owsinek, Woods, Ambrose, Costanzo, Lublin, Ackley 
Nays (0) 
Absent (1) Loch  
Abstention (0) 

AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION:   None 

Close Public Hearing 8:02 p.m. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Meeting adjourned at 8:41 p.m. 

_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Jennifer A. Stuart, City Clerk  Linda S. Ackley, Mayor 

History: Chapter 6, The Council: Procedure and Miscellaneous Powers and Duties: Section 6.7 (a) A journal of the proceedings of each meeting 
shall be kept in the English language by the Clerk and shall be signed by the presiding officer and Clerk of the meeting. 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 9 of 81



August 10, 2020 

Members of Walled Lake City Council 
1499 E. West Maple Rd. 
Walled Lake, MI 48390 

Re: Applicant: Pincanna Rx-Walled Lake Inc. 
Case No. 2020-03 
Location: 1877 E. West Maple 
Request: Appeal of Site Plan Denial for Provisioning Center  

Dear Members of Council: 

Pursuant to Council’s direction at the July 22, 2020 Special Meeting regarding the above 
referenced matter, please accept this correspondence as my written legal opinion and 
recommendation concerning the above referenced Appeal. 

Introduction and Procedural History 

On July 22, 2020, Council held a Special Meeting to hear an appeal of an administrative denial of   
Applicant’s (“Pincanna”) site plan application for a Medical Marijuana Provisioning Center. The July 
22nd Special Meeting included a duly noticed public hearing on the appeal held in compliance with 
applicable provisions of the zoning ordinance and the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3101, 
et seq. (“MZEA”).  Prior to the July 22nd hearing, Pincanna submitted a written Notice of Appeal 
seeking Council review and reversal of the administrative denial of the applicant’s site plan 
application for a proposed provisioning center. The Appeal implores Council to exercise its 
Administrative Review, Interpretive and Variance powers in granting the relief requested by the 
Applicant. In advance of the July 22nd hearing, I prepared and submitted a Memo dated July 7, 
2020 providing an overview of the Council Appeal process and further including an analysis of 
applicable ordinances and other pertinent matters discussed in the Memo. A copy of the Memo is 
attached for ease of reference.  

At the time of the July 22nd hearing, the attorney for Pincanna addressed Council and presented 
Applicant’s case in support of its appeal. Members of the public were also afforded an 
opportunity to address Council. At the conclusion of the July 22nd hearing, Council referred the 
Appeal to the City Attorney for legal review and recommendation. Council further postponed 
any final decision on the merits of the Appeal pending receipt of the City Attorney’s legal 

L. Dennis Whitt 
City Manager 

Vahan Vanerian, esq. 
City Attorney 

Office of the City Attorney 
City of Walled Lake, Michigan 

1499 E. West Maple 
Walled Lake, MI 48390 

(248) 624-4847 
vvanerian@walledlake.com

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 10 of 81

mailto:vvanerian@walledlake.com


opinion and recommendation. Council further scheduled a Special Meeting for August 19, 2020 
for purposes of taking further action on the instant Appeal.  

 Administrative Record and Decision 

The Applicant proposes utilizing an existing commercial building located at 1877 E. West Maple Rd. 
that has existing city water and sewer service. According to a recently submitted site plan application 
dated Jan. 20, 2020, the existing building would be internally divided with the current occupant, 
Games We Play, occupying the rear of the building and the proposed Provisioning Center would 
occupy the front portion of the building.  

Applicant submitted an initial application in April 2018 that included a one-page site plan depicting 
the footprint of a 4,000 square ft. building at the rear of the lot. (Exhibit 1). The April 2018 submittals 
did not state or indicate whether the building at the rear of lot was an existing structure or represented 
proposed new construction. The April 2018 submittals did not propose or depict any storm water 
control facilities or plans for the site. The April 2018 site plan did not include setbacks for existing 
and/or proposed new buildings and contained no parking data/calculations. 

On January 20, 2020, Applicant submitted a supplemental site plan application that included a revised 
site plan for the site. (Exhibit 2). The revised site plan identified the building at the rear of the lot as 
proposed new construction and reduced the footprint of the rear building from 4,000 sq. ft. to 3, 193 
sq. ft. The revised site plan further included proposed construction of new stormwater management 
facilities at the rear of the lot behind the proposed new building.  The narrative portion of the Jan 20, 
2020 site plan application states a new building would be constructed at the rear of the lot with new 
water and sewer taps serving the new rear building. Prior to the Jan 20, 2020 site plan application, the 
applicant’s submittals did not identify any new water or sewer taps for the site. It is undisputed that no 
tap fees have been paid to the City for the proposed new water and sewer taps.  

The applicant’s revised site plan application does not state or describe the proposed use of the new 
building. The submitted plans merely depict a rectangular footprint of a proposed new building at the 
rear of the lot with no additional detail, floor plans, description or elevations for the new building as 
required by Sec. 21.28 of the City’s site plan review ordinance. Consequently, in regard to the 
proposed new building at the rear of the lot, the submitted plans do not meet basic requirements of the 
City’s site plan review ordinance for review and action on a proposed new commercial building. The 
Jan. 20, 2020 site plan application included a contractor estimate indicating $353,020 in total 
improvements. Prior to the Jan. 20, 2020 application, applicant submitted no contractor estimates for 
the cost of the proposed site improvements. 

The applicant’s proposed Provisioning Center is located less than 500 ft. from another Provisioning 
Center located across the street at 1760 E. West Maple Rd. (i.e. Apex Ultra). Pincanna does not 
dispute that its proposed facility is located less than 500 ft. from Apex Ultra. In fact, Pincanna seeks a 
variance from the 500 ft. set back requirement as an alternative form of relief. The Planning 
Commission granted site plan approval for the Apex Ultra Provisioning Center at the May 28, 2019 
planning commission meeting. Contrary to applicant’s contention, Apex Ultra has been pre-qualified 
by the State of Michigan as required by City ordinance and has commenced active site development 
of its previously undeveloped parcel. (Exhibit 3). Apex Ultra proposed and timely paid for new water 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 11 of 81



and sewer taps for the new Provisioning Center facility, as the previously undeveloped parcel has no 
existing water or sewer service. Id.  

The second and final C-2 Provisioning Center site plan approval was awarded to Attitude Wellness 
(d/b/a Lume) by the planning commission at the July 9, 2019 planning commission meeting.1 The 
planning commission also considered two other unsuccessful provisioning center applicants at the July 
9, 2019 meeting. Like Apex Ultra, Attitude Wellness proposed and timely paid for new water and 
sewer taps for its site, submitted documentation confirming state pre-qualification and provided 
contractor estimates indicating improvement costs in excess of one million dollars which included 
demolition of an existing structure (including the former well that served the former building) and 
construction of an entirely new facility. (Exhibit 4).  

Pincanna has submitted no documentation to the City confirming pre-qualification by the State of 
Michigan as required by City ordinance. Moreover, the required certificate of liability insurance 
submitted by Pincanna expired on 02-23-2019 and failed to list either Pincanna or the City as insured 
parties (the certificate identifies “Compassionate Advisors LLC” as the only insured party). 

On March 11, 2020, the City sent written notification to the Applicant that its site plan application had 
been denied due to the unavailability of any remaining Provisioning Center approvals in the C-2 zoning 
district2. (Exhibit 5). The denial letter identified the name and location of the two successful C-2 
applicants and further informed the Applicant that if its proposed facility was located within 500 ft. of 
either of the two approved facilities, or if the Applicant failed to submit documentation confirming state 
pre-qualification, either or both of these factors would be a further basis for denial of its application. 

Overview of Administrative Review and Appeal Process 

Under the City’s zoning ordinance, an applicant seeking site plan approval for a marijuana facility 
must submit a complete application, including all required supporting documentation, and pay all 
required fees and deposits. Upon submitting a complete application, the application is reviewed and 
acted upon by either the Planning Commission or City Administration pursuant to both the generally 
applicable site plan review criteria and procedures under section 21.28 (“Site Plan Review”) and the 
facility specific criteria and procedures under section 21.50 (“Marijuana Facilities”).  A proposed 
marijuana facility in either an industrial zoning district or proposing new construction in any zoning 
district must be reviewed and acted upon by the planning commission, any other proposed facility 
may be reviewed and acted upon administratively. In so far as the Pincanna provisioning center 
application proposed utilizing an existing building in a C-2 zoning district, it was reviewed and acted 
upon administratively. 

Ord. No. C-337-18 amended section 21.50 by adopting several additional sub-sections including an 
appeal process under sub-section (q). Under the appeal process, an aggrieved party may appeal any 
action taken on a site plan application for a marijuana facility by appealing the decision on the site 

1 Notably, Pincanna did not appeal either site plan approval awarded to Apex Ultra or Attitude Wellness. Both Apex 
Ultra and Attitude Wellness submitted their initial applications after Pincanna submitted its initial application in 
April 2018. 
2 The March 11, 2020 denial letter reveals that it constituted notification of the City’s final administrative decision 
on Pincanna’s site plan application. 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 12 of 81



plan application to City Council. The appeal provisions under sub-section (q) confer discretionary 
powers on City Council relative to affirming, reversing or modifying any action taken on a site plan 
application for a marijuana facility.  City Council appeal powers include powers typically exercised by 
the Zoning Board of Appeals in zoning matters under Article 23.00 of the zoning ordinance, including 
Administrative Review, Interpretive and Variance powers3. 

Overview of Marijuana Facility Laws, Ordinances and Rules 

Section 21.50(g) of the Marijuana Facilities ordinance states the City “shall take action on the 
application according to the applicable review criteria and procedures in section 21.28 and the 
provisions specific to Marijuana Facilities as set forth in this zoning ordinance.” Under both state law 
and local ordinance, a decision rejecting site plan approval shall be based on lack of compliance 
with requirements and standards contained in the zoning ordinance, other applicable ordinances, 
and/or state and federal statutes. See, MCL 125.3501(4) and sections 21.28 G. 8.a.iii. and/or 
section 21.50(g) of the City’s zoning ordinance. Site plan approval is required only upon a 
showing of compliance with conditions imposed under the zoning ordinance, other applicable 
ordinances, and state and federal statutes. MCL 125.3501(5). Other applicable laws include 
requirements arising under the Marijuana Facilities Licensing Act, MCL 333.27101, et seq. (“Act”) 
and the Administrative Rules adopted pursuant to the Act (“Rules”). The City’s ordinances, the Act 
and Rules require state pre-qualification of the Applicant and/or a full state operating license to 
operate a Provisioning Center.  

In addition to the procedures and requirements arising under section 21.28, section 21.50 adopts 
additional regulations, review criteria and procedures specific to Marijuana Facilities. The Marijuana 
Facility specific provisions under section 21.50 include, but are not limited to, the following in 
relevant part: 

• Only three (3) total provisioning centers city wide: two (2) provisioning
centers are permitted in a C-2 zoning district and one (1) in the C-1 zoning
district.

• A provisioning center cannot be located within 500 ft. of another
provisioning center or a school.

• An applicant must either be pre-qualified by the State of Michigan or have
been issued a full state operating license for the proposed facility.

• A Marijuana Facility shall comply with all State Administrative Rules
adopted pursuant to the Medical Marijuana Facilities Licensing Act and all
other applicable requirements arising under the Act.

When the City adopted its ordinances authorizing only a limited number of the various types of 
marijuana facilities, the City anticipated that the number of applications meeting minimal 
requirements under applicable codes and ordinances would likely exceed the limited number of 
facilities authorized under the City’s ordinances.  In fact, the City received eighteen (18) applications 
for the two (2) available provisioning center approvals in the C-2 zoning district.4 Consequently, even 

3 See attached July 7, 2020 City Attorney Memo for a more detailed discussion of Council Appeal powers.  
4 Because the City received eighteen (18) applications for the two available provisioning center approvals in the C-2 
zoning district, all applications were reviewed collectively with comparative reference to one another when 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 13 of 81



though all C-2 applications could have potentially satisfied minimal approval criteria under applicable 
codes and ordinances, all but two inevitably required denial. Accordingly, the City adopted a priority 
system as a mechanism for deciding how to allocate and award the limited number of approvals 
among competing applicants otherwise satisfying minimal code requirements.5 The purposes 
underlying the City’s three tired priority system include encouraging new development and re-
development of existing properties, providing additional City revenue through user/tap fees and 
enhancement of the City’s tax base, encouraging water/sewer service to vacant/under-utilized 
properties that have prolonged vacancy and use related problems due to the lack of City water/sewer 
service, improving the City’s business environment by encouraging new developments/re-
developments, etc. 

Specifically, Resolution 2018-10 adopts local administrative rules and procedures for the processing 
of Marijuana Facility applications. These local administrative rules include the above referenced 
three-tiered priority system for processing competing applications for the limited number of available 
approvals for each facility type. Applications proposing new City water and sewer service to a 
property previously unserved by City water and sewer service receive first level priority. Applications 
proposing either new City water service or new sewer service to a previously unserved property 
receive second level priority. An applicant must pay all required tap fees before receiving a first or 
second level priority. Applications proposing $20,000.00 or more of non-facility specific 
improvements of a general nature documented by a credible estimate from a qualified contractor 
receive a third level priority. 

Resolution 2018-10 further adopts a preliminary review step in the application review process for 
purposes of determining whether the application is complete and whether the application on its face 
makes a preliminary showing of eligibility for further review. If the applicant submits a complete 
application that makes a facial showing of preliminary eligibility, the application undergoes final review 
for consideration of final approval, denial or approval subject to conditions.  

The resolution stays the commencement of the review process until May 1, 2018, but neither the 
resolution nor any applicable City ordinances require completion of the review process and/or action 
on a given application within any specified time frame. When the City started receiving applications 
in the spring/early summer of 2018, none of the provisioning center applicants included proof of state 
pre-qualification with their initial application submittals as few, if any, applicants had completed the 
state prequalification application process at that time. Consequently, rather than simply deny all 
applications at an early stage of the review process due to lack of  required proof of state pre-
qualification, the City instead administered its review process in a manner that would afford applicants 
a reasonable opportunity to obtained state pre-qualification prior to final action on the applications. 

The City started its process by reviewing provisioning center applications for the C-1 zoning district 
where only one (1) provisioning center is allowed by ordinance. After the City completed its review of 

determining how to award and allocate the limited number of available approvals. Consequently, the factors 
considered in denying/approving an application necessarily include a comparative analysis of the factors considered 
in denying/approving another for purposes of determining which applicants made a more compelling showing under 
the City’s applicable review criteria, priorities and procedures.  
5 Different communities employ different methodologies. Some use a first come/first serve method, others use a 
random draw, others attempt to assign a number of points from a point range applied to different categories, etc.   

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 14 of 81



the C-1 provisioning center applications in December 2018, the City commenced review of the C-2 
provisioning center applications in early 2019. Once again, the City received eighteen (18) 
applications for the two available placements in the C-2 zoning district, some of which proposed new 
construction and therefore required review and action by the planning commission. The C-2 
provisioning center applications were reviewed and acted upon according to the City’s priority system 
whereby applications demonstrating and perfecting a higher level of priority were review and acted 
upon ahead of competing lower priority applications. 

Overview of Appeal 

The Applicant, Pincanna, filed a timely written Notice of Appeal seeking Council review and 
reversal of the administrative denial of the applicant’s site plan application for a proposed 
provisioning center. The applicant’s Notice of Appeal (“Appeal”) includes a written synopsis of 
the issues presented, reasons and argument in support of applicant’s challenges to the 
administrative denial of the site plan application, relief requested and supporting documentation. 
The Appeal implores Council to exercise its Administrative Review and Variance powers in 
granting the relief requested by the Applicant. City Council, sitting as the ZBA, may reverse, 
affirm, vary or modify any order, requirement, decision, or determination presented in a case 
within its jurisdiction, and to that end, shall have all of the powers of the officer, board or 
commission from whom the appeal is taken, subject to the applicable scope of review, as 
specified in the zoning ordinance and/or by law. Council, sitting as the ZBA, may impose 
reasonable conditions in connection with an affirmative decision on an appeal, interpretation or 
variance request.  

At the July 22nd Council hearing, Pincanna argued that it should have been notified of certain 
deficiencies in its application and failure to do so violated the City’s ordinances and Due Process 
requirements. Pincanna argues it never received written notification of the results of the 
preliminary review and if it had it would have had the opportunity to correct certain deficiencies. 
Specifically, Pincanna claims written notification of the results of the preliminary review would 
have identified the above deficiencies regarding its initial site plan and level of priority. 
Pincanna’s argument raises an interpretive issue concerning the scope of the preliminary review 
step, including the types of defects or deficiencies identified at the preliminary review step. 
Pincanna further referenced steps taken during the review of the two approved provisioning 
centers (i.e. Apex Ultra and Attitude Wellness) claiming Pincanna did not receive the same level 
of feed back from the City during the review process. 

Analysis 

The Appeal alleges the City erroneously denied Pincanna’s site plan application for a 
provisioning center.  As set forth in the attached July 7th City Attorney Memo, Council review 
shall be based on the record of the administrative decision being appealed without consideration of 
new information which had not been presented to the administrative decision maker from whom the 
appeal is taken. City Council, sitting as the ZBA, shall not substitute its judgment for that of the 
administrative official  being appealed and the appeal shall be limited to determining, based on the 
record, whether the administrative official breached a duty or discretion in carrying out the provisions 
of the zoning ordinance.  

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 15 of 81



 
In support of its claim that the City erroneously denied its site plan application, Pincanna argues that 
its application qualified for first level priority and the City should have made a decision on its 
application before taking action on the Apex Ultra and/or Attitude Wellness applications, both of 
which were filed after the initial Pincanna submittal in April 2018. However, the priorities for 
processing and taking action on competing applications are based on the applicant making certain 
qualifying improvements (i.e. new water/sewer taps, cost of site improvements) not the order of filing 
the application. Consequently, a later filed application perfecting a first/second/third level of priority 
must be acted upon and decided before an earlier filed application that fails to perfect any level of 
priority. Here, Pincanna never perfected a first or second level of priority because it is undisputed that 
Pincanna never paid the required tap fees for the new water/sewer taps that it proposed for the first 
time by way of its January 20, 2020 site plan application.  
 
Furthermore, Pincanna did not perfect a third level of priority until it submitted a contractor estimate 
for the proposed improvements with its January 20, 2020 site plan application, more than six months 
after the second and final C-2 Provisioning Center approval had been awarded to Attitude Wellness by 
the planning commission at the July 2019 meeting.  Both approved provisioning centers proposed 
new construction, and both therefore proposed new water and/or sewer taps for their new 
facilities. Both approved applicants timely paid the required tap fees. Attitude Wellness timely 
submitted credible contractor estimates documenting non-facility specific improvements that 
exceed one million dollars. 
 
Accordingly, both approved provisioning centers perfected a first and second level of priority 
over the Pincanna application when their respective site plans were approved by the planning 
commission in May and July of 2019. As of July 2019, when the second and final C-2 
Provisioning Center approval was awarded to Attitude Wellness, Pincanna still had not perfected 
any level of priority. Therefore, as required by the city’s administrative procedural rules, the City 
appropriately acted upon the two approved priority applications before taking action on 
Pincanna’s non-priority application.  
 
Once the City completed processing of the higher priority C-2 applications and moved to the 
lower and/or non-priority applications, including the Pincanna application, the City’s two (2) 
facility quota had been exhausted as no Provisioning Center site plan approvals remained in the 
C-2 zoning district. Furthermore, because the previously approved Apex Ultra Facility located 
across the street is less than 500’ from the proposed Pincanna facility, the Pincanna application 
further failed to qualify for approval due to lack of compliance with the 500 ft. set back 
requirement. Pincanna also failed to submit documentation confirming state pre-qualification6. 
Consequently, the Pincanna application further failed to qualify for approval due to lack of 
required proof of state pre-qualification of the Applicant.  
 
Consequently, any effort between the City and Pincanna to fine tune and address any 
deficiencies/issues in the Pincanna site plan application would have been futile due to lack of 

6 At the July 22nd Council hearing, Pincanna orally represented that it received state approval in October 2018. 
Therefore, according to Pincanna’s representation, October 2018 is the earliest possible date Pincanna could have 
been eligible for approval. Be that as it may, the administrative record lacks any documented confirmation of state 
prequalification and Pincanna does not claim that it did in fact submit documentation of state prequalification. 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 16 of 81



compliance with the above referenced approval criteria. Unlike the Pincanna application, when 
the City worked with the two approved applicants to address deficiencies/issues concerning their 
respective submittals, one or more provisioning center placements in the C-2 zoning district 
remained at that time and there was no previously approved provisioning center within 500 ft. of 
either facility. Moreover, unlike Pincanna, the lack of state pre-qualification was not an obstacle 
for either Apex Ultra or Attitude Wellness. Clearly, differing circumstances and factors existed 
regarding compliance with mandatory approval criteria when the competing applications 
underwent their respective final reviews.  
 
Pincanna contends that the City failed to follow its own site plan review procedures by failing to 
notify Pincanna of deficiencies/issues regarding its application. In support of its contention, 
Pincanna references the preliminary review step in the City’s review process and the fact that the 
City interacted with Apex Ultra and Attitude Wellness to address issues/concerns in their 
respective applications. As previously stated, the City’s procedural rules required final review 
and action on the Apex Ultra and Attitude Wellness applications before final review and action 
on the Pincanna application. Again, when the City undertook final review and action on the 
Pincanna application, the lack of compliance with the above referenced approval criteria 
rendered any effort to resolve deficiencies in the Pincanna application futile. Consequently, any 
collaborative effort between the City and Pincanna to fine tune Pincanna’s proposed site plan 
would have been a mutually needless waste of time, money and resources. The obstacles 
rendering Pincanna’s application futile during final review were not present during the final 
review and decision on the two approved applications. Accordingly, the fact that the City 
interacted with Apex Ultra and Attitude Wellness during the final review of their respective 
applications but allegedly did not do so with Pincanna, does not represent a flaw or deficiency in 
the review process of the Pincanna application as the applications were dissimilarly situated 
during their respective final reviews.     
 
Pincanna further contends the City should have notified Pincanna of the above referenced deficiencies 
at the preliminary review step of the City’s process. As indicated above, Resolution 2018-10 adopts a 
preliminary review step in the application review process for purposes of determining whether the 
application is complete and whether the application on its face makes a preliminary showing of 
eligibility for final review. Preliminary review consists of a cursory review of the application for 
purposes of identifying any readily apparent reason rending the application ineligible for final review. 
Resolution 2018-10 identifies the scope of the items reviewed as of the time of the preliminary review 
as follows: a) the proposed facility is in an improper zoning district; b) the quota established by 
ordinance for the proposed facility has been exhausted; c) unpaid/past due financial obligations owning 
to the City; d) any other reason rendering the application ineligible. Importantly, Resolution 2018-10 
subparagraph 5 expressly informs applicants that a determination of preliminary eligibility does not 
represent nor guarantee final approval: 

 
A preliminary finding of eligibility does not guarantee, promise or represent that the facility satisfies all 
other applicable code and ordinance requirements needed for final approval or renewal. 
 
If an application is found ineligible for further review at the preliminary step, the City Clerk is 
required to notify the applicant in writing of the deficiencies rendering the application ineligible for 
final review. The purpose of the notification requirement is to afford applicants an opportunity to 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 17 of 81



either withdraw the application and receive a refund of the application fee or supplement the 
application to address an identified deficiency. The scope of the preliminary review does not include a 
comprehensive detailed review of the site plan specifications and content by City staff and/or 
consultants. Consequently, any claim by Pincanna that deficiencies in its submitted site plan should 
have been identified during the preliminary review misinterprets the limited scope of the preliminary 
review step. 
 
The limited scope of the preliminary review does not include a determination as to whether an 
applicant has proposed or perfected any level of priority or whether the applicant proposes new 
construction or utilizing an existing building. To the contrary, the scope of the preliminary review is 
limited to confirming that the proposed facility parcel is in a proper zoning district. None of the City’s 
ordinances or rules require an applicant to propose or perfect any level of priority. Applicants may 
propose and perfect priority improvements to gain a competitive advantage over competing 
applications, but applicants are not required to do so. Consequently, Pincanna’s failure to perfect any 
given level of priority did not render its application incomplete and absence of priority level 
improvements is not an item that otherwise falls within the limited scope of the preliminary review. 
None of the City’s ordinances or rules require City staff to serve as taxpayer funded consultants who 
offer suggestions and recommendations to make an application more competitive under the City’s 
review criteria and procedures. Accordingly, lack of City notification regarding the absence of priority 
level improvements or other site plan deficiencies does not represent improper procedure or lack of 
compliance with applicable City ordinances and rules. 
 
Moreover, for the reason discussed above, lack of state pre-qualification is not within the limited 
scope of the preliminary review step. While the catch all provision in Rule 5 (e) arguably could be 
construed to include proof of state prequalification, the City has never interpreted or applied the catch 
all provision to include proof of state prequalification as an item within the scope of the preliminary 
review. As previously discussed, if the scope of the preliminary review step included confirmation of 
state prequalification, most, if not all, applications would have been found ineligible for final review 
soon after the City commenced its review process.  To the contrary, the City has never found an 
application ineligible for final review at the preliminary review step due to lack of proof of state 
prequalification. Accordingly, considering proof of state prequalification as an item outside the limited 
scope of the preliminary review represents a reasonable and recommended interpretation of the City’s 
Rules and procedures.   
 
The preliminary review of Pincanna’s application revealed no preliminary defects or deficiencies 
rendering Pincanna’s application ineligible for final review at that time. Consequently, failure to 
provide Pincanna written notification that its application was found eligible for final review would not 
have identified any preliminary deficiency falling within the limited scope of the preliminary review.  
Therefore, Pincanna suffered no prejudice due to lack of written notification that its application was 
found eligible for final review as the written notification would not have identified any preliminary 
deficiency to address at that time. Following review and action on higher priority applications per the 
requirements of the City’s adopted review procedures, Pincanna;s application underwent final review 
and action by City administration pursuant to the City’s duly adopted approval criteria and review 
procedures.  When City administration performed the final review of Pincanna’s application, no 
provisioning center placements remained in the C-2 zoning district and another provisioning center 
within 500 ft. of Pincanna’s proposed site had been previously approved by the planning commission. 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 18 of 81



Once again, preliminary approval simply means an application is eligible for final review and does not 
represent, promise or guarantee compliance with applicable codes and ordinances needed for final 
approval. (See Resolution 2018-10 Rule 5 (e)).   
 
Final administrative approval requires a showing that the proposed facility complies with all 
applicable ordinance requirements and state/federal laws. See, MCL 125.3501(4), (5) and sections 
21.28 G. 8.a. and/or section 21.50(g) of the City’s zoning ordinance. Section 21.50 (g) “Action on 
Application” further mandates denial of site plan approval where the facility would result in the 
violation of local ordinances: “An application for site plan approval of a Marijuana Facility 
that…would result in a violation of state or local law or the Rules shall be denied”. Zoning ordinance 
Sec 21.50 (b) “Number and Location” states as follows in relevant part: “The number and placement 
of Marijuana Facilities shall comply with zoning district limitations and requirements as follows… 
Provisioning Center C-2: Two (2)”  Consequently, the express provisions of the zoning ordinance 
unambiguously prohibit the placement of more than two (2) provisioning centers in the C-2 zoning 
district.  Pursuant to Section 21.50(e)(7), a provisioning center cannot be located within 500 ft. of 
another provisioning center or a school. Section 21.50(j) further requires an applicant to submit 
documented verification of state prequalification as a prerequisite to site plan approval.  
 

Conclusion 
 
Here, Pincanna’s application failed to qualify for final approval for the following reasons: 
 

1)  The planning commission previously approved the placement of two (2) provisioning 
centers in the C-2 zoning district. Approval of the Pincanna provisioning center application would 
have therefore resulted in a violation of Sec. 21.50(b) by approving the placement of a third 
provisioning center in the C-2 zoning district where only two (2) placements are allowed by 
ordinance. Accordingly, the express and unambiguous provisions of Sec. 21.50 (b) and (g) mandated 
the denial of Pincanna’s application. 

 
2) The proposed Pincanna provisioning center is located less than 500 ft. from the 

previously approved Apex Ultra provisioning center located across the street from the proposed 
Pincanna site. Therefore, approval of the Pincanna facility would have resulted in a violation of Sec. 
21.50(e)(7).  

 
3) Pincanna failed to submit documented verification of state prequalification. Therefore, 

Sec. 21.50(j) prohibited final approval of Pincanna’s proposed site plan application. Importantly, lack 
of compliance with Sec. 21.50(j) would have prohibited final approval at any earlier date. 
 
 

Respectfully, 
 
Vahan C. Vanerian 
 
Vahan Vanerian, Esq. 
City Attorney 

August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 19 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 20 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 21 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 22 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 23 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 24 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 25 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 26 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 27 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 28 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 29 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 30 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 31 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 32 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 33 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 34 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 35 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 36 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 37 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 38 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 39 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 40 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 41 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 42 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 43 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 44 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 45 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 46 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 47 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 48 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 49 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 50 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 51 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 52 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 53 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 54 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 55 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 56 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 57 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 58 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 59 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 60 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 61 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 62 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 63 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 64 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 65 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 66 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 67 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 68 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 69 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 70 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 71 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 72 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 73 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 74 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 75 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 76 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 77 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 78 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 79 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 80 of 81



August 19, 2020 Council Packet 
Page 81 of 81


	Office of the City Attorney
	City of Walled Lake, Michigan



